## TOWN OF CAMBRIA TOWN BOARD

## April 8, 2021

The regular meeting of the Town of Cambria Town Board was held at 7:00 pm on the 8<sup>th</sup> day of April 2021 at the Town Hall, 4160 Upper Mountain Road, Town of Cambria, New York.

#### **ALSO PRESENT:**

Paula N. Jones, Deputy Town Clerk Robert Roberson, Attorney Tim Walck, Wendel 11 interested parties

Supervisor Ellis called the regular meeting to order. Board members took action upon the following matters:

#### **APPROVAL OF MINUTES**

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Roberts and seconded by Councilman Foe, it was resolved to approve the minutes of the Town Board meeting of March 11, 2021 regular meeting and March 25, 2021 Special Meeting.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

#### -Motion Carried-

#### APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS

April 8, 2021

Having been reviewed by the Town Board, the following claims were presented for payment:

FUND	CLAIM	AMOUNT
General	111-154	\$53,628.30
Highway	30-43	\$52,390.04
Refuse	2-3	\$32,101.55
Sewer Operating	11-12	\$1,756.96
Trust & Agency	5-6	\$556.61
Water Construction	7	\$999.93
Water Operating	43-53	\$51,316.10

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Musall and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam it was resolved that the abstract of audited vouchers dated March 11, 2021 be approved as read by the Town Clerk.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

#### -Motion Carried-

#### SOLAR LAW/COMP PLAN UPDATE

Tim Walck reported the public hearing and SEQR process that are required by law have been completed. The last two steps to adopt it are for the Town Board to pass a negative declaration under SEQR and then to approve the motion to adopt the law and make it official.

NEGATIVE DECLARATION - SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM LAW

# **BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:**

Wright H. Ellis, Supervisor Matthew P. Foe, Councilman Jeffrey S. Hurtgam, Councilman Benjamin D. Musall, Councilman Randy M. Roberts, Councilman

#### NEGATIVE DECLARATION RESOLUTION SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS LAW

**WHEREAS**, the Cambria Town Code contains and specifies the local laws, and ordinances of the Town of Cambria; and

**WHEREAS**, the Town of Cambria has observed that the Cambria local law that regulates the siting of solar energy systems in the Town is outdated and does not address the issues in the Cambria Comprehensive Plan, and

**WHEREAS**, the Town, through a Solar Committee and the Town's consultant, has drafted an updated Solar Energy System Law and that draft law was presented to the Town Board, and

**WHEREAS**, in accordance with Part 617 of the implementing regulations pertaining to Article 8 (State Environmental Quality Review Act - SEQRA) of the Environmental Conservation Law, the Cambria Town Board has conducted a coordinated environmental review of these Code revisions and has established itself as SEQR Lead Agency and has received no objections to acting as Lead Agency; and

**WHEREAS**, a public hearing was held regarding these Code amendments on 3/25/21 and comments were received from Town departments and the committee, and the Niagara County Planning Board referral was completed; and

**WHEREAS**, pursuant to Municipal Home Rule, the Town Board is proposing to adopt these revisions by enacting text amendments to the Code of the Town of Cambria.

#### NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:

The Cambria Town Board, in accordance with the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) has determined that the proposed amendments to the Town Code (see attached copies) of the Town of Cambria Code of Ordinances, will not adversely affect the natural resources of the State and/or the health, safety, and welfare of the public and is consistent with social and economic considerations and, therefore, issues a SEQRA Negative Declaration in accordance with Section 617.7 of the SEQRA regulations; and

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT**, the Supervisor is authorized to sign the Full Environmental Assessment Form (FEAF Parts 1, 2 &3), which will act as the Negative Declaration, and that the required notifications be completed.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Roberts it was resolved to adopt the negative declaration resolution on solar energy systems as read by the Town Clerk.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

#### -Motion Carried-

The question of the resolution was put to a vote on roll call which resulted as follows:

WRIGHT H. ELLIS voting AYE MATTHEW P. FOE voting AYE JEFFREY S. HURTGAM voting AYE BENJAMIN D. MUSALL voting AYE RANDY ROBERTS voting AYE

The motion was thereupon declared duly adopted.

ADOPTION OF THE LOCAL LAW

## TOWN OF CAMBRIA

LOCAL LAW No. 1 - 2021 SUPERSEDING LOCAL LAW No. 2 – 2017 Regulating Solar Energy Systems, amending the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance and establishing Regulations for Solar Energy Systems for the Town of Cambria

**WHEREAS**, the Town Board of the Town of Cambria has determined that the Cambria Local Law No. 2 - 2017 is outdated, inadequate and fails to address the issues of the Cambria Comprehensive Plan or its recent update, and

**WHEREAS,** the Town Board, through a Solar Committee, the Town's consultant and Town Attorney, has prepared an updated Solar Energy Systems Law, identified as Town of Cambria Local Law no. 1 - 2021, amending the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance and superseding Town of Cambria Local Law no. 2 - 2017, and

**WHEREAS**, a public hearing was duly held on March 25, 2021, receiving the comments of the public and all other interested parties; and

**WHEREAS**, the prepared Local Law no. 1 - 2021 was duly referred to the Niagara County Planning Board in accordance with New York State GML Section 239 m with the prepared Local Law No. 1 - 2021 being duly approved; and

**WHEREAS**, the Town of Cambria Town Board, acting as SEQR Lead Agency, has issued a SEQR Negative Declaration; and

**WHEREAS**, pursuant to Municipal Home Rule Law, the Town Board proposes the adoption of Local Law no. 1 – 2021.

**NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED** that the Town of Cambria Town Board hereby adopts Local Law No. 1 – 2021, amending the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance, as presented therein, superseding Local Law No. 2 – 2017, and providing for the regulation of Solar Energy Systems within the Town of Cambria.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Roberts and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam it was resolved to adopt the resolution LOCAL LAW No. 1 - 2021 SUPERSEDING LOCAL LAW No. 2 – 2017 Regulating Solar Energy Systems, amending the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance and establishing Regulations for Solar Energy Systems for the Town of Cambria as read by the Town Clerk.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

The question of the resolution was put to a vote on roll call which resulted as follows:

WRIGHT H. ELLIS voting AYE MATTHEW P. FOE voting AYE JEFFREY S. HURTGAM voting AYE BENJAMIN D. MUSALL voting AYE RANDY ROBERTS voting AYE

The motion was thereupon declared duly adopted.

## TOWN OF CAMBRIA

LOCAL LAW No. 1 - 2021 SUPERSEDING LOCAL LAW No. 2 – 2017 Regulating Solar Energy Systems, amending the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance and establishing Regulations for Solar Energy Systems for the Town of Cambria

# Article I. LARGE-SCALE (Tier 2) AND UTILITY AND INDUSTRIAL- SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (Tiers 3 and 4)

## **AUTHORITY**

This Solar Energy Systems Local Law is adopted pursuant to Sections 261-263 of the Town Law for the State of New York, which authorizes the Town to adopt zoning provisions that advance and protect the health, safety and welfare of the community, and, in accordance with the Town Law of New York State, "to make provision for, so far as conditions may permit, the accommodation of solar energy systems and equipment and access to sunlight necessary therefore."

# PURPOSE

- A. The Town of Cambria recognizes that solar energy is a clean, readily available, and renewable energy source. Development of solar energy systems offers an energy resource that can act to attract and promote green business development.
- B. The Town of Cambria has determined that comprehensive regulations regarding the development of solar energy systems are necessary to protect the interests of the Town, its residents, and its businesses. This article is intended to promote the effective and efficient use of solar energy resources; set provisions for the placement, design, construction, and operation of such systems to uphold the public health, safety, and welfare; and to ensure that such systems will not have a significant adverse impact on the aesthetic qualities and character of the Town. The law will help to:
- 1. Invest in a locally generated source of energy to increase employment and business development in the community known as Cambria to the extent reasonably practical by furthering the installation of solar energy systems;
- 2. Provide other benefits to the Town and its residents to mitigate impacts from the solar project;
- 3. Mitigate the impacts of Solar Energy Systems on environmental resources such as important agricultural lands, forests, wildlife and other protected resources and the community known as Cambria. The use of small-scale, on-farm sources alternative to energy generation is beneficial to local farmers allowing them the ability to cut utility costs and/or supplement their income;
- 4. Protect adjoining/surrounding property owners and the community known as Cambria's Rural-Agrarian character by mitigating the potential impacts from large scale solar installations and locating them in areas that minimize these impacts;
- 5. Aid in the energy independence of the community as well as the country.
- 6. Create zoning regulations in accordance with the Town's Comprehensive Plan, Niagara County's Agricultural and Farmland Protection Plan, and other Regional Planning documents;
- 7. Specifically protect the agrarian and agri-business economy of the community known as Cambria;
- 8. Allow for a sustainable number of acres of Tier 3 and 4 Solar Energy Systems within appropriate areas of the community known as Cambria without impacting the community's economy or character.
- 1. Definitions

BUILDING-INTEGRATED SOLAR/PHOTOVOTAIC (BIPV) SYSTEM — A solar energy system incorporated into and becoming part of the overall architecture and design of a building or structure in a manner that the solar energy system is a permanent and integral part of the building envelope or structure.

BUILDING-MOUNTED SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM — A solar energy system that is affixed to the side(s) of a building or other structure either directly or by means of support structures or other mounting devices, but not including those mounted to the roof or top surface of a building. Solar energy systems constructed over a parking lot are considered building-mounted solar energy systems.

COMMUNITY IMPACT ANALYSIS – an analysis to determine impacts on the community known as Cambria and its residents caused by the project. Impacts such as the project making the community a less appealing place to live; does the project create new or unique threats to the residents: are there adverse social or family impacts such as substantial loss of the value of the home or anxiety among school age children or substantial change of home environment by proximity of the project.

GROUND-MOUNTED SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM — A solar energy system that is affixed to the ground either directly or by support structures or other mounting devices.

HEIGHT – As related to solar equipment shall be measured from the ground to the highest point of any structure or equipment (for panels, this is at maximum tilt and its maximum height, if applicable)

HOST COMMUNITY AGREEMENT – A contract between a developer and a local governing body, whereby the developer agrees to provide the community with certain benefits and mitigate specified impacts of the solar project.

INDUSTRIAL- SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (Tier 4) – A Solar Energy System exceeding the overall footprint requirements of a Tier 3 system as defined previously or not meeting the definition of a Tier 1, 2 or 3 Solar Energy System.

LARGE-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (Tier 2) — Any ground mounted solar energy system that cumulatively on a lot meets all the following criteria:

- (1) Is an accessory use or structure, designed and intended to generate energy primarily for use on site, potentially by multiple tenants, through a distribution system or electrical grid that is not available to the general public. Net metering is allowed, but the solar energy system cannot generate more than 110% of the electricity consumed on the site over the previous 12 months.
- (2) Consists of an overall footprint not exceeding 5,000 square feet. Overall footprint shall be determined by the outline of the solar panels and related structures and fencing created on the ground.

NATIVE PERENNIAL VEGETATION: native wildflowers, forbs, and grasses that serve as habitat, forage, and migratory way stations for pollinators and shall not include any prohibited or regulated invasive species as determined by the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation.

NET METERING; a billing mechanism that credits *solar* energy system owners for the electricity they add to the grid. For example, if a residential customer has a PV system on their roof, it may generate more electricity than the home uses during daylight hours.

NON-PARTICIPATING PROPERTY; a property that is not affiliated with a Solar Energy System project in any contractual way related to the solar project.

PARCEL(S): A tract of land owned by an individual or entity leased or otherwise controlled by an applicant upon which a Solar Energy System is proposed to be constructed.

PARTICIPATING PROPERTY: A property that is being leased for solar usage, or a property that has an agreement or lease related to the solar project.

POLLINATOR: bees, birds, bats, and other insects or wildlife that pollinate flowering plants, and includes both wild and managed insects.

PRIME FARMLAND: Land, designated as "Prime Farmland" or "Prime Farmland where drained" in the U.S. Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS)'s Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database on Web Soil Survey, that has the best combination of physical and chemical characteristics for producing food, feed, forage, fiber, and oilseed crops and is also available for these land uses.

REFLECTOR, SOLAR — A device for which the sole purpose is to increase the solar radiation received by a solar collector.

ROOFTOP-MOUNTED SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM — Any solar energy system that is affixed to the roof of a building and wholly contained within the limits of the roof surface.

SMALL-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (Tier 1) - a roof top, building mounted or building integrated solar energy system.

SOLAR ACCESS: Space open to the sun and clear of overhangs or shade to permit the use of active and/or passive Solar Energy Systems on individual properties.

SOLAR COLLECTOR — A solar or photovoltaic cell, plate, panel, film, array, reflector, or other structure affixed to the ground, a building, or other structure that harnesses solar radiation to directly or indirectly generate thermal, chemical, electrical, or other usable energy, or that reflects or concentrates solar radiation to a solar or photovoltaic cell, plate, panel, film, array, reflector, or other structure that directly or indirectly generates thermal, chemical, electrical, or other usable energy.

SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM — A complete system intended for the collection, inversion, storage, and/or distribution of solar energy and that directly or indirectly generates thermal, chemical, electrical, or other usable energy. A solar energy system consists of, but is not limited to, solar collectors, mounting devices or structures, generators/turbines, water and energy storage and distribution systems, storage, maintenance and/or other accessory buildings, inverters, combiner boxes, meters, transformers, and all other mechanical, electrical, and plumbing components (For the purposes of this law; solar energy systems do not include battery energy storage components – they are defined and regulated under a separate law)

UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (Tier 3) — Any solar energy system that cumulatively on a lot meets the following:

- (1) Is a ground mounted principal use or structure, designed and intended to supply energy solely or primarily into a utility grid;
- (2) Does not meet the definition of a Tier 2 or Tier 4 system and consists of an overall footprint of 20 acres or less. Overall footprint shall be determined by the outline created on the ground, building/structure surface, or combination thereof;
- 2. Applicability
  - A. The requirements of this Local Law shall apply to all Solar Energy Systems permitted, installed, or modified in the Town after the effective date of this Local Law, excluding general maintenance and repair.
  - B. Solar Energy Systems constructed or installed prior to the effective date of this Local Law shall not be required to meet the requirements of this Local Law.
  - C. Modifications to an existing Solar Energy System that increase the Solar Energy System area by more than 5% of the original area of the Solar Energy System (exclusive of moving any fencing) shall be subject to this Local Law.
  - D. All Solar Energy Systems shall be designed, erected, and installed in accordance with all applicable codes, regulations, and industry standards as referenced in the NYS Uniform Fire Prevention and Building Code ("Building Code"), the NYS Energy Conservation Code ("Energy Code"), and the Town Code.
- 3. General Requirements

- A. A Building permit shall be required for installation of all Solar Energy Systems.
- B. Issuance of permits and approvals by the Planning Board shall include review pursuant to the State Environmental Quality Review Act ECL Article 8 and its implementing regulations at 6 NYCRR Part 617 ("SEQRA").
- C. This Article shall take precedence over any inconsistent provision of the Zoning Law of the Town of Cambria.
- D. Solar applications shall be referred to the applicable fire department for input.
- 4. Permits and Approvals Required and Applicable Zoning Districts
  - A. Small scale solar energy systems (Tier 1); see Article II of this law
  - B. Large-scale solar energy systems (Tier 2) are considered a permitted use pursuant to this article and subject to site plan review by the Planning Board and requiring issuance of a building permit within all the Town of Cambria zoning districts except Residential R-1 and Planned Development (unless shown as an approved use on the approved PD Plan).

C. Utility-scale solar energy systems (Tier 3) shall <u>not</u> be considered a permitted use unless shown to meet the requirements (and one is issued) of a special use permit pursuant to this Local Law and Article XI of the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance, and subject to site plan review by the Planning Board and requiring issuance of a building permit within the Industrial District I-I, Planned Development P-D (shown as an approved use on the approved PUD Plan) and the Agri-Residential zoning districts. These Tier 3 systems are also limited per the following:

- (1) In accordance with the Town of Cambria Comprehensive Plan, Tier 3 solar energy systems are restricted from any area within the Escarpment Protection area and all lands north of the escarpment (in the areas denoted as "Escarpment/Ag-Agri-tourism/Wine Trail" and "Rural/Ag area" on the Town's Comprehensive Plan Vision Map).
- (2) To reduce impacts, A Tier 3 system shall not be located within one mile of another Tier 3 or Tier 4 system (as measured from property line to property line).
- D. Industrial-scale solar energy systems (Tier 4) shall not be considered a permitted use unless shown to meet the requirements of a special use permit (and one is issued) pursuant to this Local Law and Article XI of the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance, and subject to site plan review by the Planning Board and requiring issuance of a building permit within the Industrial District I-I and Planned Development P-D (shown as an approved use on approved PUD Plan) zoning districts.
- E. Any solar energy system to be used strictly for agricultural use purposes in accordance with NYS Agriculture and Markets Law, may have some requirements of this article waived by the Building Inspector or the Planning Board and will include an expedited approval process, as necessary.
- 5. Application and Permitting Requirements for Large- Scale Tier 2 Solar Energy Systems
  - A. All applications for large-scale Tier 2 solar energy systems shall be accompanied by an application for site plan review, and all applicable fees.
  - B. All applications for Tier 2 solar energy systems shall include the requirements of a Town of Cambria

site plan application (stamped drawings) and meet the following requirements:

- (1) Glare All Solar Panels shall have anti-reflective coating(s) and proof of such must be provided with the site plan and then the building permit applications.
- (2) Setbacks Tier 2 Solar Energy Systems shall be setback a minimum of 50 feet from any side or rear property line. All Tier 2 Solar Energy Systems shall only be installed in the side or rear yards. In no case shall the Zoning Board of Appeals grant a variance for these setbacks that reduces this setback to less than 40 feet. In all cases, the solar panels shall be located a minimum of 75 feet from any dwelling unit on an adjoining non-participating property.
- (3) Height Tier 2 Solar Energy Systems shall be less than 12 feet in Residential and Ag-Residential Districts. Height shall be less than 15 feet for all remaining districts.
- (4) Screening and Visibility
- (5) Fire Safety code requirements and any recommendations of the Fire Department.
- C. All Tier 2 Solar Energy Systems shall have views minimized from adjacent properties to the extent reasonably practicable (as determined through the site plan process).
- D. Solar Energy Equipment shall be located in a manner to reasonably avoid and/or minimize blockage of views from surrounding properties and shading of property to the north, while still providing adequate solar access.
  - (1) Minimization of tree loss; Tier 2 units are to be located on a site to minimize the clearing/removal of existing trees.
- 6. Application and Permitting Requirements for Utility-Scale Tier 3 Solar Energy Systems
  - A. All applications for utility-scale- Tier 3 solar energy systems shall be accompanied by an application for special use permit pursuant to this Local law and Article XI of the Town of Cambria Zoning Ordinance, an application for site plan review, and all applicable fees.
  - B. All applications for Tier 3 utility-scale solar energy systems shall include the following:
    - (1) Plans and drawings of the solar energy system installation signed by a professional engineer registered in New York State showing the proposed layout of the entire solar energy system along with a description of all components, whether on site or off site, existing vegetation and proposed clearing and grading of all sites involved.
    - (2) Documentation and design information for the access to the project site(s), including location of all access roads, gates, parking areas, etc.
    - (3) Plan for clearing and/or grading of the site. Erosion and sediment control and storm water management plans prepared to New York State Department of Environmental Conservation standards, if applicable, and to such standards as may be established by the Planning Board.
    - (4) Documentation of utility notification, including an electric service order number.
    - (5) Decommissioning plan and description of financial surety that satisfies Paragraph K. under Section 10. hereunder.
    - (6) A sign not to exceed 8 SQ. FT. shall be displayed on or near the main access point and shall list the facility name, owner, and telephone number; and

- (7) A clearly visible warning sign concerning voltage must be placed at the base of all pad-mounted transformers or substations not to exceed four square feet.
- (8) A Plan illustrating property lines and physical features, including roads/access drives, for the project site.
- (9) Proposed changes to the landscape of the site, grading, vegetation clearing and planting, exterior lighting, and screening vegetation or structures.
- (10) A one- or three-line electrical diagram detailing the Solar Energy System layout, solar collector installation, associated components, and electrical interconnection methods, with all National Electrical Code compliant disconnects and over current devices.
- (11) A preliminary equipment specification sheet that documents all proposed solar panels, significant components, mounting systems, and inverters that are to be installed. A final equipment specification sheet shall be submitted prior to the issuance of building permit.
- (12) Name, address, and contact information of proposed or potential system installer and the owner and/or operator of the Solar Energy System. Such information of the final system installer shall be submitted prior to the issuance of building permit.
- (13) Name, address, phone number, and signature of the project applicant, as well as all the property owners, demonstrating their consent to the application and the use of the property for the Solar Energy System.
- (14) Zoning district designation for the parcel(s) of land comprising the project site and adjoining sites.
- (15) Property Operation and Maintenance Plan. Such plan shall describe continuing photovoltaic maintenance and property upkeep, such as mowing and trimming (or other methodologies).
- (16) All Engineering documents must be signed and sealed by a New York State (NYS) Licensed Professional Engineer.
- (17) A completed SEQR Full Environmental Assessment Form.
- (18) A Landscape Plan in accordance with the other requirements of this law.
- (19) Fire Safety Plan (to be reviewed by the Building department and Fire company).
- C. All applications shall address Agricultural Impacts: For projects proposed on agricultural lands (lands that have been farmed within the last ten years), the project must be shown to not adversely impact the overall operation of the farm (the rest of the lands can continue to be farmed).
- D. All applications shall submit a proposal for a Host Community Agreement (to be reviewed and approved by the Town Board prior to issuance of the SUP)
- 7. Application and Permitting Requirements Industrial- Scale Tier 4 Solar Energy Systems
  - A. All applications for Tier 4 Industrial-scale solar energy systems shall include the following:
    - (1) All the information/requirements listed for a Tier 3 system plus the following additional information/requirements.
    - (2) Submittal of an Agricultural Impact Statement to determine the impact to Agriculture in the Town and community. The Planning Board, on a project by project basis, will work with the applicant on finalizing the requirements of this Agricultural Impact Statement, but at a minimum will include whether the farmland is active (how long it has been farmed or not farmed) and if it

is farmed by the property owner or leased. If leased, how the removal of this leased land will affect the farmer who leases this site and other farmlands and other leases that the farmer has in the Town. Include information on the improvements that have been made to the lands (tiling, irrigation, etc.), history of the farm and its products, number of workers, products purchased and used for farming operations, etc.

- (3) Submittal of an Economic Impact Analysis to determine the impact to the economy of the Town. This includes the agricultural impacts in the Ag Impact statement and information as noted by the Town Planning Board (Town to work with the applicant on the scoping of this study)
- (4) Submittal of a Community Impact Analysis on the community known as Cambria and its residents as set forth under definitions.
- (5) Submittal of an overall Community Impact Analysis for the community known as Cambria, addressing the cumulative impacts on Community Character, quality of life, economics, and the other issues referenced by this law and/or identified by the Planning Board.
- (6) Any proposed Tier 4 Solar Energy System shall not be located on a parcel that consists of Prime Farmland soils (including Prime where drained) or Farmland soils of Statewide Importance on more than 50% of the parcel.
- (7) Proposal for a Host Community Agreement (to be reviewed and approved by the Town Board prior to any approvals granted by other boards or agencies).
- 8. Fees; All fees for large, utility and industrial-scale solar energy systems shall be approved by the Town Board by resolution. Nothing in this article shall be read as limiting the ability of the Town to enter into host community agreements with any applicant to compensate the Town for expenses or impacts on the community. The Town shall require any applicant to enter into an escrow agreement to pay the engineering and legal costs of any application review, including the review required under SEQRA if an EIS is required.
- 9. General Provisions
  - A. All applications for large-scale, utility and industrial-scale solar energy systems shall be in accordance with the following:
    - (1) All solar energy systems shall adhere to all applicable Town of Cambria building, plumbing, electrical, and fire codes.
    - (2) Development and operation of a solar energy system shall not have a significant adverse impact on fish, wildlife, or plant species or their critical habitats, or other significant habitats identified by the Town of Cambria or other federal or state regulatory agencies. The SEQR process shall be used to analyze all potential environmental impacts and determine the significance of these impacts.
    - (3) The design, construction, operation, and maintenance of any solar energy system shall prevent the misdirection and/or reflection of solar rays onto neighboring properties, public roads, and public parks.
    - (4) All structures and devices used to support solar collectors shall be nonreflective and/or painted a subtle or earth-tone color.
    - (5) All transmission lines and wiring associated with a solar energy system shall be buried and include necessary encasements in accordance with the National Electric Code and Town requirements. The Planning Board may recommend waiving this requirement if sufficient engineering data is submitted by the applicant to demonstrate that underground transmission lines

are not feasible or practical. The applicant is required to show the locations of all proposed overhead and underground electric utility lines, including substations and junction boxes and other electrical components for the project on the site plan.

- (6) All transmission lines and electrical wiring shall be in compliance with the utility company's requirements for interconnection.
- (7) Artificial lighting of solar energy systems shall be limited to lighting required for safety and operational purposes and shall be shielded from all neighboring properties and public roads.
- 10. Bulk and siting requirements for Utility and Industrial Scale Systems.
  - A. The maximum height of a ground-mounted utility and industrial scale solar energy system shall be 20 feet as measured from the finished grade.
  - B. Utility and industrial-scale solar energy systems shall be located in their allowed zoning districts.
  - C. Setbacks (Tier 3 and 4)
    - (1) All Tier 3 and 4 solar energy systems shall be setback (as measured from the fence line) in accordance with the following paragraphs...
    - (2) For a participating property, the setback from the road ROW and the rear and side lot lines shall be not less than 100 feet regardless of the zoning district.
    - (3) All solar energy equipment and components/structures developed as part of a utility and industrial-scale solar energy system (Tier 3 and 4) shall be set back from any non-participating property zoned Agri-Residential AR, Residence R-1, Escarpment, Medium Density Residential Use or Recreational Campground R-C zoning districts, a public road, or any public park a minimum of 600 feet.
    - (4) All solar energy equipment and components/structures developed as part of a utility or Industrialscale solar energy system (Tier 3 and 4) shall be set back from any non-participating property zoned Light Retail Business B-1, General Business B-2, and Industrial I, a minimum of 300 feet.
  - D. Following construction of a utility or industrial-scale solar energy system, all disturbed areas where soil has been exposed shall be reseeded with grass and/or planted with low level vegetation capable of preventing soil erosion and airborne dust (In accordance with an approved SWPPP), and in accordance with the approved Operation and Maintenance Plan.
  - E. Applications for utility and Industrial-scale Tier 3 and 4 solar energy systems shall meet the following additional criteria:
    - (1) Photo simulations shall be included showing the proposed solar energy system in relation to the building/site along with elevation views and dimensions, and manufacturer's specs and photos of the proposed solar energy system, solar collectors, and all other components. These photo simulations must include before and after simulations from locations where the solar energy system will be viewed from off-site and as determined by the Planning Board. "After simulations" must include landscaping at the condition when first planted and another at maturity.
    - (2) Any site containing a utility or industrial-scale solar energy system shall contain fencing or other enclosure acceptable to the Town (and meeting State and National Code standards) enclosing all solar energy system components that present safety hazards.

- (3) A berm, landscape screen, or other opaque enclosure, or any combination thereof acceptable to the Town capable of screening the site, shall be provided along any property line that abuts an important community resource, an existing residence or any property zoned other than Industrial 1-1 or Planned Development P-D.
- (4) After completion of a utility or industrial-scale solar energy system, the applicant shall provide a postconstruction certification from a professional engineer registered in New York State that the project complies with applicable codes and industry practices and has been constructed and is operating according to the design plans.
- F. Screening and Visibility.
  - (1) Solar Energy Systems shall have views minimized from adjacent properties to the extent reasonably practicable using architectural features, earthen berms, landscaping, or other screening methods that will harmonize with the character of the property and surrounding area.
  - (2) Solar Energy Systems shall be required to:
    - a) Conduct a visual assessment of the visual impacts of the Solar Energy System on public roadways and adjacent properties. As required previously, this analysis must consider conditions at day 1 of operation and when the landscaping has matured. At a minimum, a line-of-sight profile analysis shall be provided. Depending upon the scope and potential significance of the visual impacts, additional impact analyses, including for example a digital viewshed report, may be required to be submitted by the applicant.
    - b) Submit a screening & landscaping plan to show adequate measures to screen through landscaping, grading, or other means so that views of Solar Panels and Solar Energy Equipment shall be minimized as reasonably practical from public roadways and adjacent properties to the extent feasible. The Planning Board will in good faith determine the adequacy of these measures in its sole and absolute discretion.
    - The screening & landscaping plan shall specify the locations, elevations, height, plant c) species, and/or materials that will comprise the structures, landscaping, and/or grading used to screen and/or mitigate any adverse aesthetic effects of the system. The landscaped screening shall be comprised of evergreen/coniferous trees (planted at recommended spacing for the type of tree), at least 8-10 feet high at the time of planting (depending on site conditions and the result of the visualizations; may need to be installed in a "zig-Zag pattern to maximum screening), plus supplemental shrubs placed in between the evergreen trees at the reasonable discretion of the Town Planning Board. These plantings are to be planted within 10 linear feet of the Solar Energy System fencing or as directed by the Planning Board to achieve maximum screening. In some cases, existing vegetation located on participating properties, may be used to satisfy all or a portion of the required landscaped screening. A list of suitable evergreen tree and shrub species can be provided by the Town. This minimum screening requirement will be reduced if adjoining properties are participating properties. All plantings shall come with a 10-year guarantee and must be replaced if dead or diseased (include in Operation and Maintenance Plan).

Landscape plans must be completed by a NYS registered Landscape Architect.

- d) For any buildings or structures (not panels) to be placed on the site, the applicant shall be required to submit plans illustrating how these structures will blend into the character of the area. For example, buildings can be made to look like agricultural structures such as barns.
- G. Additional Agricultural Resources Requirements. For projects located on agricultural lands:

- (1) Tier 3 and 4 Solar Energy Systems allowed to be located on Farmland (through the processes described in this law) shall be constructed in accordance with the construction requirements of the New York State Department of Agriculture and Markets (See NYS Agriculture and Markets Guidelines).
- (2) Tier 3 and 4 Solar Energy System owners shall develop, implement, and maintain native vegetation to the extent practicable pursuant to a vegetation management plan by providing native perennial vegetation and foraging habitat beneficial to game birds, songbirds, and pollinators. To the extent practicable, when establishing perennial vegetation and beneficial foraging habitat, the owners shall use native plant species and seed mixes. Once established, other agriculture uses such as pasturing livestock and apiculture are permissible and encouraged. Input from the local farmers and <u>any duly appointed Town Agricultural Committee</u> will be needed to make these determinations.
- (3) Agricultural Restoration Requirements: once the system is decommissioned, the site shall be restored and remediated in accordance with the NYS Agriculture and Markets Guidelines (this will be a condition of the Special Use Permit).
- H. Noise: The Tier 3 or 4 project shall not result in any adverse noise impacts on any surrounding homes or other sensitive receptors (use of NYSDEC regulations concerning noise).
- I. Hazardous Materials: The Tier 3 or 4 project components shall not contain any hazardous materials that could contaminate soils or the air by their release (units shall not contain cadmium or other hazardous substances). Specific material data information/specifications shall be submitted on all components of the project. The applicant must ensure that no harmful chemicals will be leaked into the soils over the life of the project. For certain components of the project, information on spill containment systems will need to be provided.
- J. Glare: All Tier 3 or 4 Solar energy projects must complete a glare study to be submitted to the Niagara Falls Air Reserve Station and the Niagara Falls International Airport. The Town may also hire their own consultant to review that report.
- K. Abandonment or Decommissioning
  - (1) Unsafe, inoperable, and/or abandoned Utility or industrial-scale solar energy systems, and solar energy systems for which a special use permit has expired or revoked, shall be removed (equipment removed) by the owner within six months of a determination that the systems is unsafe, inoperable and or abandoned or the special permit having been expired or been revoked. A solar energy system shall be deemed abandoned when it fails to produce energy (50 % or more of its designated rating) for at least one year (based on yearly reports provided to the Town by the applicant/owners). All safety hazards created by the installation and operation of the solar energy system shall be eliminated and the site restored (complete restoration of the site) to its preexisting condition (or as determined in the Decommissioning Plan) within six months of the removal of the solar energy system.
  - (2) A Decommissioning Plan to ensure the proper removal of utility or industrial-scale solar energy systems is to be submitted as part of the special use permit application to the Town of Cambria for approval. The Plan must specify that after the utility or industrial-scale solar energy system is no longer in use (as determined by the owner/operator or the Building Inspector as outlined in paragraph (1)), it shall be removed by the applicant or any subsequent owner. The Decommissioning Plan shall identify the anticipated life of the project. The Plan shall demonstrate how the removal of all infrastructure and restoration shall be conducted to return the parcel to its original state prior to construction. In the case of Agricultural land or lands having Prime or Statewide important Ag soils, the Plan shall include, at a

minimum, the standards of NYS Department of Agriculture and Markets. The plan shall also include an expected timeline for execution (not greater than 1 year) and a cost estimate for decommissioning prepared by a Professional Engineer or qualified Contractor. Cost estimates shall take inflation into consideration and be revised every five (5) years . during operation of the system and not include any salvage value. Removal of Tier 3 and 4 solar energy system must be completed in accordance with the approved Decommissioning Plan and meet the minimum standards provided as follows:

- i All structures and foundations associated with the large-scale solar energy systems shall be removed;
- ii All disturbed ground surfaces shall be restored to original conditions including topsoil and seeding as necessary; and
- iii All electrical systems shall be properly disconnected, and all cables and buried wiring shall be removed.
- iv The required recycling of solar panels and other components.
- (3) Security
  - a) The deposit, execution, or filing with the Town Clerk of cash, bond, or other form of security reasonably acceptable to the Town Attorney and/or engineer and approved by the Town Board, shall be in an amount sufficient to ensure the good faith performance of the terms and conditions of the permit issued pursuant hereto and to provide for the removal and restorations of the site subsequent to removal. The amount of the bond or security shall be 125 % of the cost of removal of the Utility or Industrial Scale Solar Energy System and restoration of the property with an escalator of 2 % annually for the life of the Solar Energy System. The decommissioning amount shall not be reduced by the amount of the estimated salvage value of the Solar Energy System. The bond shall be renewed every five (5) years or, as necessary, to reflect adjustments in the projected costs of decommissioning.
  - b) In the event of default upon performance of such conditions, after proper notice and expiration of any cure periods, the cash deposit, bond, or security shall be forfeited to the Town, which shall be entitled to maintain an action thereon. The cash deposit, bond, or security shall remain in full force and effect until restoration of the property as set forth in the decommissioning plan is completed.
  - c) In the event of default or abandonment of the Solar Energy System, the system shall be decommissioned as set forth in this law.
- L. Special use permits granted for utility or industrial-scale solar energy systems shall be assignable or transferable so long as they are in full compliance with this article and all conditions. The consent of the Town of Cambria by its duly designated representative shall be required for said assignment or transfer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Building Department is to be notified of the transfer at least 15 days prior thereto.
- M. Any post-construction changes or alterations to the solar energy system shall be permitted only by amendment to the special use permit and shall be subject to the requirements of this article.
- 11. Time for Completion, Inspection and Complaints
  - A. Time limit on completion. After the granting of a special permit of a utility or industrial-scale solar energy system with concurrent site plan approval or site plan renewal of a freestanding or ground-mounted solar

energy system by the Planning Board, the building permit shall be obtained within six months and the project shall be completed within twelve months. A six-month extension to obtain a building permit or the completion time can be issued by the Planning Board upon application by the applicant. If not constructed, the special permit and/or site plan approval shall automatically lapse within twelve months after the date of approval by the Town of Cambria Planning Board (unless an extension is granted).

- B. Inspection. Upon reasonable notice, the Town of Cambria Building Inspector or his or her designee may enter a lot on which a solar energy system has been approved for the purpose of compliance with any requirements or conditions. Twenty-four (24) hours advance notice by telephone to the owner/operator or designated contact person shall be deemed reasonable notice. Furthermore, a utility or industrial-scale solar system shall be inspected annually by a New York State licensed professional engineer who has been approved by the Town or at any other time, upon a determination by the Town's Building Inspector that damage may have occurred, and a copy of the inspection report shall be submitted to the Town Building Inspector. Any fee or expense associated with this inspection shall be borne entirely by the permit holder.
- C. General complaint process. During construction, the Town Building Inspector can issue a stop order at any time for any violations of a special permit or building permit. After construction is complete, the permit holder of a utility or industrial-scale solar energy system shall designate a contact person, including name and phone number, for receipt of any complaint concerning any permit requirements.
- 12. Utility and Industrial-Scale Solar Energy System (Tier 3 and 4) Liability Insurance
  - A. The Holder of a Special Use Permit for a Solar Energy System shall agree to secure and maintain for the duration of the permit, public liability insurance as follows (unless waived by the Town Board for smaller Tier 3 systems):
    - a) Commercial general liability covering personal injuries, death and property damage:

\$5,000,000 per occurrence (\$10,000,000 aggregate) which shall specifically include the Town of Cambria and its officers, councils, employees, attorneys, agents and consultants as additional named insured;

- b) Umbrella coverage: \$10,000,000.
- B. Insurance Company: The insurance policies shall be issued by an agent or representative of an insurance company licensed to do business in the State and with at least a Best's rating of "A".
- C. Insurance Policy Cancellation: The insurance policies shall contain an endorsement obligating the insurance company to furnish the Town of Cambria with at least thirty (30) days prior written notice in advance of cancellation.
- D. Insurance Policy Renewal: Renewal or replacement policies shall be delivered to the Town of Cambria at least fifteen (15) days before the expiration of the insurance that such policies are to renew or replace.
- E. Copies of Insurance Policy: No more than fifteen (15) days after the grant of the permit and before construction is initiated, the permit holder shall deliver to the Town of Cambria a copy of each of the policies or certificates representing the insurance in the required amounts.
- F. Certificate of Insurance: A certificate of insurance states that it is for informational purposes only and does not confer sufficient rights upon the Town of Cambria shall not be deemed to comply with this Law.
- G. Indemnification: Any application for a Solar Energy System within the Town of Cambria shall contain an

indemnification provision. The provision shall require the Applicant/Owner/Operator to at all times defend, indemnify, protect, save, hold harmless and exempt the Town of Cambria and its officers, councils, employees, attorneys, agents and consultants from any and all penalties, damages, costs or charges arising out of any and all claims, suits, demands, causes of action or award of damages whether compensatory or punitive, or expenses arising therefrom either at law or in equity which might arise out of or are caused by the placement, construction, erection, modification, location, equipment's performance, use, operation, maintenance, repair, installation, replacement, removal or restoration of said Solar Energy System, excepting however, any portion of such claims, suits, demands, causes of action or award of damages as may be attributable to the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of the Town of Cambria or its employees or agents. With respect to the penalties, damages, or changes referenced herein, reasonable attorneys' fees, consultant' fees and expert witness fees are included in those costs that are recoverable by the Town of Cambria.

## Article II. SMALL-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (Tier 1)

- 1. Interpretation. The provisions of this chapter shall be interpreted as providing minimum requirements for small-scale solar energy systems (Tier 1) adopted for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, morals and general welfare of this community. Provisions for large-scale, utility and industrial-scale solar energy systems (Tiers 2,3 and 4) are provided in Article I hereof.
- 2. Intent; greater restrictions to prevail. It is not intended by this chapter to repeal, except as herein stated, abrogate or impair existing conditions previously made or permits previously issued relating to the use of buildings or premises or to impair or interfere with any easements, covenants or agreements existing between parties. Except as otherwise provided herein, whenever this chapter imposes a greater restriction upon the use of buildings or premises than is required by existing provisions of law, ordinance, regulations or permits or by such easements, covenants or agreements, the provisions of this chapter shall control.
- 3. Small-Scale Solar Energy Systems
  - A. Installation of small-scale solar energy systems and equipment is encouraged on all preexisting structures; however, access to sunlight which is necessary therefor cannot be obtained through the provisions of this chapter. The installation of a solar collector, whether attached to the main structure or as a detached accessory structure, shall require a building permit. Height limitations for solar collectors shall be three feet above the level of the permitted building height in that zoning district. All solar collectors and their associated support elements shall be designed according to generally accepted engineering practice to withstand wind pressures applied to exposed areas by wind from any direction, to minimize the migration of light or sound from the installation and to minimize the development of sight obstructions for adjacent structures or land parcels.

Solar Panels on pitched roofs shall be mounted with a maximum distance of 8 inches between the roof surface and the highest edge of the system.

Solar Panels on pitched roofs shall be installed parallel to the roof surface on which they are mounted or attached.

Solar Panels on flat roofs shall not extend above the top of the surrounding parapet, or more than 24 inches above the flat surface of the roof, whichever is higher.

- B. Glare: All Solar Panels shall have anti-reflective coating(s) and proof of such must be provided with the building permit application.
- C. Fire safety: All Roof mounted systems shall be designed and installed in accordance with the Uniform Fire Prevention and Building Code Standards.

- D. Installation of building-integrated photovoltaic (BIPV) systems, as defined herein, are exempt from the requirements of this article. BIPV systems are still required to meet applicable building codes and obtain all necessary permits. The Code Enforcement Officer may request assistance from the Planning Board to determine whether a solar energy system should be considered a BIPV system.
- E. Other alternative natural energy conservation devices shall be considered accessory structures and shall require a building permit. All permit applications for such devices will be reviewed and considered pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Cambria.
- F. Small-scale solar energy systems located in the Agricultural and Residence A-R; Residence R-1; Light Retail Business B-1; General Business B-2; Escarpment; Medium Density Residential; and Recreational-Campground R-C are permitted if they contain solar collectors located on the rooftops of principal or accessory buildings. The solar collectors must be completely contained within the limits of the building roof. All other equipment and components (not panels) of the solar energy system (not located on or in the building/structure) shall be located within the rear yard only and are subject to setbacks for accessory structures.
- G. Small-Scale solar energy systems featuring rooftop-mounted solar collectors on the rooftops of principal or accessory buildings are also permitted in the Industrial, I-I and Planned Development, PD zoning districts. Rooftop mounted solar collectors must be completely contained within the limits of the principal or accessory building's roof.
- H. It must be noted that Cambria Town Law limits lots to two (2) accessory structures per lot.
- I. General Provisions
  - 1. Allowing or permitting the reflective glare of solar rays of any solar energy system/or array of solar panels, of any nature or kind or description, onto neighboring properties, public roads, or public parks, under any circumstances whatsoever, is <u>strictly</u> prohibited.
  - 2. It is the responsibility of any landowner, resident, manager, tenant, or lessee of any premises upon which there is situate a solar energy system or array of solar panels of any nature, kind, or description to keep reflective glare of any description from going onto neighboring properties, public roads or public park at any time. In that regard it is the ongoing responsibility of such persons to conduct regular inspections of such systems or array to prevent the direction of reflective glare onto the property of another and, if necessary, to make appropriate adjustments to prevent the same from occurring.
  - 3. In the event such persons (para. 2 above) become aware of, or with the exercise of reasonable care would have become aware of, or has received a complaint, that reflective glare from his solar energy system or array of solar panels is upon the property of another, such person shall undertake action to immediately block the reflective glare. This may be accomplished by adjusting the angles of the system or array, if possible, or by physically blocking the glare by covering the panels or by removing them.
  - 4. Upon the failure, refusal or neglect of such person to immediately block the reflective glare as directed by paragraph C above, Town of Cambria workforces, at the direction of the Town Building Inspector and/or Code Enforcement Officer, shall cover such system or array of panels, if possible, to block the reflective glare. If not, the system or panels shall be physically de-constructed or removed to the point the reflective glare is blocked.
  - 5. In the event the system or panels are removed or de-constructed as set forth in paragraph 4 above, the owner or person responsible for the system or array shall not replace or

reconstruct the system or panels until he applies to and received from the Planning Board of the Town of Cambria a permit after submitting to the Building Inspector a plan of operation that will ensure no further incidents of reflective glare onto neighboring properties, public road, or public park will occur.

6. Further, or additional complaints of such incidents shall be grounds to revoke any permit received from the Town of Cambria for the system or array and the system or array shall be fully dismantled and removed from the premises.

### **ENFORCEMENT**

Any violation of this Solar Energy Law shall be subject to the same enforcement requirements, including the civil and criminal penalties, provided for in the zoning or land use regulations of the Town.

#### SEVERABILTY

The invalidity or unenforceability of any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, provision, or phrase of the aforementioned sections, as declared by the valid judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional, shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, provision, or phrase, which shall remain in full force and effect.

#### EFFECTIVE DATE

This local law shall take effect immediately upon filing in the office of the New York State Secretary of State.

#### SCOPE CHANGE REQUEST

Tim Walck reported the scope of work grew over the course of the project. A request for payment has been submitted to the Town Board for an additional amount of \$4,375.00 for work that has already been completed. In addition they are requesting an additional \$2,200.00 - \$4,000.00 for additional fees for the Comprehensive Plan. The total request is for time and expense in the amount of \$6,575.00 - \$8,375.00 for finishing the Comprehensive Plan process and paying for the additional work already completed.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Roberts and seconded by Councilman Foe it was resolved to approve the scope change notification submitted by Wendel regarding the update to the Comprehensive Plan and the Solar Law.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

## **30-DAY WAIVER FOR HALLIGAN'S NIAGARA LLC**

The Town Board is in receipt of a letter from Attorney Sean MacKenzie regarding the property located at 3997 Lower Mountain Road- Halligan's Niagara LLC. The letter states they "confirm that their client, Halligan's Niagara, LLC acknowledges that it cannot permit live music to be played outdoors without first obtaining a special event permit from the Town". This letter will act as an addendum to their original application.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Musall and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam it was resolved to approve the waiver of the 30-day waiting period to apply for a NYS liquor license for Halligan's Niagara LLC as modified by the letter from Sean Mackenzie dated April 2, 2021 acknowledging that it cannot permit live music to be played outdoors without first obtaining a special event permit from the Town.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

# TOWN CLERK REPORTS

The Town Clerk reported receipt of the following:

•	Town Clerk Report March:	Total Receipts: \$6,736.01
•	Building Inspector Report March:	Total fees collected: \$ 4,404.15 Total estimated value of construction: \$588,006.00

## HIGHWAY SUPERINTENDENT REPORTS

The Highway Superintendent, Jon MacSwan, reported as follows:

- Brush pickup starts next week
- Paving/Milling- Meahl Rd., Tyler Rd., Joanne Dr.-Burch Rd. will be widened and shoulders will be done; requesting the millings be declared as surplus and people have to sign a form stating they will not re-sell it.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Roberts it was resolved to declare the road millings as surplus and have residents sign a form stating they will not re-sell it.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

## WATER SEWER REPORTS

The Highway Superintendent, Jon MacSwan, reported as follows:

- Working on irrigation meters
- Working on repairs and testing

## ATTORNEY REPORTS

No report.

Supervisor Ellis reported on the following:

## **BEAR RIDGE SOLAR PROJECT**

- The State finally passed their budget that included the Section 575 b in the tax code. Unfortunately what it does is takes away the municipality's taxing authority as it pertains to any renewable energy project that is larger than 1 megawatt.
- They will be out doing the archeological analysis in the various parcels that they have identified as possible sites.

Supervisor Ellis reported a meeting was held with Town employees about re-opening the Town Hall. Supervisor Ellis has been keeping an eye on active cases in the County and Cambria; there is an uptick in active cases. At this time the Town Hall will re-open the Town Hall to the public Monday – Friday from 8am - 1pm, no appointments necessary and remain closed from 1pm - 4pm appointments will be necessary, effective Monday.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Hurtgam and seconded by Councilman Roberts it was resolved to approve the proposal to re-open the Town Hall to the public Monday – Friday from 8am – 1pm, no appointments necessary and remain closed from 1pm – 4pm appointments will be necessary.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

## CONCERNS OF CITIZENS

David Godfrey-Legislator reported on the following:

- Vaccination pods can be set up for County residents only
- A public hearing will be held 4/20/2021 at 5:15pm for Solar Panel Collection Local Law, this is to eliminate e-waste

Scott Olick, Meahl Road – inquired about what the archeological analysis will entail, concerned about what has already been disturbed, what is left; what is the point of an archeological study?

Mr. Scovazzo asked if the location has changed at all from where they were going to originally put the solar project. Supervisor Ellis responded there is one parcel that was not identified on the visual review. It is about a 143 acre parcel on the west side of Meahl Road to be used as an agricultural mitigation.

Supervisor Ellis recognized the Boy Scout in attendance for his citizenship badge.

## **NEW BUSINESS**

## CAMBRIA HOUSING AUTHORITY DISSOLUTION

Attorney Roberson reported the Cambria Housing Authority, which is independent of the Town, has requested that the Town Board and the Town of Cambria pursue the dissolution of the Cambria Housing Authority. Discussions have taken place with Mr. Shoemaker, attorney for the Cambria Housing Authority and he has stated the Housing Authority through the Town needs to make an application to the Supreme Court for permission to dissolve. The Town Board needs a resolution authorizing the Supervisor to direct the Town Attorney to commence the appropriate legal action in Niagara County Supreme Court to proceed with the dissolution of the Cambria Housing Authority.

Supervisor Ellis gave a brief background of the Cambria Housing Authority. It was established in April 1983 by order of Governor Mario Cuomo. Originally it was established to manage the 27 private homes that were being renovated at Fair Court and sold to private families. The housing Authority managed them primarily through supervision of right of first refusal in order to insure it remained senior citizen housing age 55 and over. More senior homes were built in the late 1980's and early 1990's over at Southway & Northway Drive and they exercised the right of first refusal. The Housing Authority took control of the Unicorn apartments (28 units) on Eagle Drive which started out as senior housing but then turned into low income housing. The property has been sold to a developer and the exercise of first refusal will still be maintained by the Town legal counsel to ensure it remains senior citizen housing.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Roberts and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam it was resolved to authorize the Supervisor to direct the Town Attorney to commence the appropriate legal action in Niagara County Supreme County to proceed with the dissolution of the Cambria Housing Authority.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

#### PUBLIC INFORMATION MEETING - RE: STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

Tim Walck reported the Town has a stormwater permit from DEC and one of the conditions of the permit is to hold a public information meeting prior to June.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Musall it was resolved to schedule the Stormwater Public Information meeting for May 13, 2021.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

## PUBLIC HEARING COMPREHENSIVE PLAN U PDATE, APRIL 2021

**RESOLUTION-** Comprehensive Plan Update- 2021

**WHEREAS**, the Town of Cambria, based on proposed large-scale projects in the Town and changing NYS regulations, has worked diligently in preparing an Update to the 2015 Comprehensive Plan of the Town of Cambria; and

**WHEREAS**, through the coordinated actions of a Comprehensive Plan and Solar Law committee, Planning Board, Town Board, other Town Departments and employees, and through the Town's Planning Consultant, the Town has completed a Draft Comprehensive Plan Update; and

**WHEREAS**, the Town of Cambria has determined this Draft Comprehensive Plan is sufficiently complete for official agency input, and public review and input, and

**WHEREAS**, in accordance with Part 617 of the implementing regulations pertaining to Article 8 (State Environmental Quality Review Act - SEQR) of the Environmental Conservation Law, the Cambria Town Board would like to begin the environmental review process of the Comprehensive Plan Update by conducting a coordinated review and requesting Lead Agency status and beginning the adoption process, and

**WHEREAS**, the adoption of a Comprehensive Plan requires referral to the Niagara County Planning Board and the holding of a public hearing.

**NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED,** that the Cambria Town Board accepts the draft of the Comprehensive Plan Update as complete and ready for public review and requests designation as the SEQR Lead Agency, in accordance with the SEQR regulations, for the purposes of conducting a Coordinated Review of this action; and

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED** that the Cambria Town Board authorizes the completion of the SEQR coordinated process mailings and referral to the Niagara County Planning Board; and

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED**, that the Cambria Town Board directs that a public hearing be held, in accordance with New York State Town Law, on May 13, 2021 at 7:00 P.M. at the Cambria Town Hall to solicit comments on the draft Comprehensive Plan Update; and

**BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED** that copies of the document be made available for public review at the Town Hall and on the Town's website.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Musall and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam it was resolved to schedule the Public Hearing for May 13, 2021 at 7:00pm.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

The question of the resolution was put to a vote on roll call which resulted as follows:

WRIGHT H. ELLIS voting AYE MATTHEW P. FOE voting AYE JEFFREY S. HURTGAM voting AYE BENJAMIN D. MUSALL voting AYE RANDY ROBERTS voting AYE

The motion was thereupon declared duly adopted.

## PROCUREMENT POLICY PURCHASE

## 2021-03 HIGHWAY – POST POUNDER

The Town is in receipt of three proposals for a post pounder.

22

Town of Cambria Town Board April 8, 2021

Admar Construction Supplies-\$2,981.00 – would like to purchase this one, it's not the lowest price but it is more user friendly and has more attachments Skidril Industries-\$3,570.00 Redi Driver - \$2,339.00

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam, it was resolved to accept the proposal from Admar Construction in the amount of \$2,981.00 for a new post pounder.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Roberts, it was resolved to declare the old post pounder as surplus and authorize disposal of same and the removal from inventory.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

#### 2021-04 HIGHWAY - PAVING AND RENTAL COST

The Town is in receipt of three proposals for paving and rental cost.

Villager Construction - \$3,400.00 per day Ken Young Paving - \$3,136.00 per day – would like to use this one; it is with an operator and screen man, it's the lowest price for daily paving, have used them in the past Cerrone, Inc. - \$4,454.00 per day

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam, it was resolved to approve the proposal from Ken Young Paving in the amount of \$3,136.00 per day for paving and rental cost.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

### 2021-05 SEWER - CYNCON EQUIPMENT - SEWER JETTER

The Town is in receipt of one proposal for a trailer mounted sewer jetter (cleaner) to be purchased from a source only contract

Cyncon Equipment - \$54,402.76

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Hurtgam and seconded by Councilman Foe, it was resolved to accept the proposal from Cyncon Equipment in the amount of \$54.402.76 for a sewer jetter.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

#### PERSONNEL

Supervisor Ellis reported that Maureen Walck is resigning from the Board of Assessment Review. She was member for 24 years, thanked her for her many years of service.

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Foe and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam, it was resolved to accept the resignation of Maureen Walck with regret and approve the appointment of Joanne Wollaber, 3621 Lower Mountain Road to the Board of Assessment Review five year term expiring 2025.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

Supervisor Ellis reported that Automotive Mechanic Joe Delilio is retiring on April 29<sup>th</sup> after 16 years of service, he would like to extend thanks to Joe for his hard work. They would like to hire Thomas Mendola, 283 Idlewood Drive Tonawanda as a full time position of Automotive Mechanic in the Highway Department; the rate of pay in accordance with the union contract, he will start on May 3<sup>rd</sup>.

-Motion Carried-

-Motion Carried-

-Motion Carried-

-Motion Carried-

-Motion Carried-

Upon a motion duly made by Councilman Roberts and seconded by Councilman Hurtgam, it was resolved to approve the appointment of Thomas Mendola, 283 Idlewood Drive to Automotive Mechanic; the rate of pay in accordance with the union contract.

Ayes: Ellis, Foe, Hurtgam, Musall, Roberts

-Motion Carried-

## **ADDITIONAL MATTERS**

None

## ADJOURNMENT

As there was no further business, the meeting was adjourned by motion made by Councilman Musall and seconded by Councilman Foe. Time: 7:50 pm

Respectfully submitted,

Paula N. Jones, Deputy Town Clerk